
Peter Sloman
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Civic Offices, Bridge Street,
Reading RG1 2LU
 0118 937 3787

CIVIC OFFICES EMERGENCY EVACUATION: If an alarm sounds, leave by the nearest fire exit quickly and calmly 
and assemble on the corner of Bridge Street and Fobney Street.  You will be advised when it is safe to re-enter 
the building.

www.reading.gov.uk | facebook.com/ReadingCouncil | twitter.com/ReadingCouncil
  DX 40124 Reading (Castle Street)

To: Councillors Maskell Direct:  0118 937 2368
e-mail: amy.bryan@reading.gov.uk

5 November 2018

Your contact is: Amy Bryan - Committee Services

NOTICE OF MEETING - LICENSING APPLICATIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 1 - 13 NOVEMBER 2018

A meeting of the Licensing Applications Sub-Committee 1 will be held on Tuesday, 13 
November 2018 at 5.00 pm in the Council Chamber, Civic Offices, Bridge Street, Reading, RG1 
2LU. The Agenda for the meeting is set out below.

WARDS
AFFECTED

Page No

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

(a) Councillors to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests 
they may have in relation to the items for consideration;

(b) Councillors to declare whether they wish to speak on the 
grounds they:
(i) Have submitted a relevant representation; or
(ii) Will be speaking on behalf of someone who has 
submitted a relevant representation.

2. APPLICATION FOR THE REVIEW OF A PREMISES LICENCE - 
SIMPLY FRESH SUPERMARKET, NORTHUMBERLAND 
AVENUE, READING

WHITLEY 3 - 78

To consider an application for the review of a Premises 
Licence in respect of Simply Fresh Supermarket, 236-240 
Northumberland Avenue, Reading.



This page is intentionally left blank



LICENSING ACT 2003 HEARING ON TUESDAY 13 NOVEMBER 2018 @17.00 HOURS 

APPLICATION FOR THE REVIEW OF A PREMISES LICENCE  

1. Premises:
  Simply Fresh Supermarket 
236-240 Northumberland Avenue
Reading
RG2 7QA

2. Applicants Requesting Review:
  Reading Borough Council 

3. Grounds for Review
 The Licensing Team as a responsible authority under the Licensing Act 2003 and under 
 the licensing objectives of prevention of crime and disorder, the prevention of    

   public nuisance, the protection of children from harm and public safety make  
   application for the review of the premises licence for Simply Fresh Supermarket,   

236-240 Northumberland Avenue, Reading RG2 7QA

  A combination of immigration, criminal activity including a host of licence condition 
  breaches unearthed during inspections the issues outlined below have led Reading    
  Borough  Council’s Licensing team to taking this final serious step in reviewing the   
  premises licence. 

Background 
The premises operates as a general store and off licence. The premises licence holder 
at the time of this submission are stated as Simply Fresh Supermarket Limited, 

 Delamere Road, Hayes, UB4 0NN. The sole director is Mr Amar Singh. 

They have been the named premises licence holders since 2016. 

Partnership operations between the Licensing team, Thames Valley Police and officers 
from the Home Office Immigration Enforcement team are regularly carried out in the 
Borough of Reading. Immigration Enforcement have been a ‘Responsible Authority’ 
under the Licensing Act since April 2017 to predominantly deal with the prevention and 
detection of immigration offences that may be being committed on licensed premises 
which therefore undermine the prevention of crime and disorder licensing objective. 
This, more often and not, is the detection of persons working in a licensed premises 
who have no legal right to work in the UK which would be contrary to the various 
Immigration Acts.  

  A licensing inspection was carried out on 30th November 2017 wherein the premises  
  was found to be operating in breach of nine conditions stated on the premises licence; 
  there was no evidence that staff had been authorised to sell alcohol as per the  
  requirements of the mandatory conditions and various parts of the Licensing Act were  
  not being complied with. 

  A licensing inspection was carried out on 6th June 2018 (the same day we encountered 
 two illegal workers at the premises) wherein the premises was found to be operating in  

  breach of seven conditions stated on the premises licence and the staff working at the  
  premises had no right to work in the UK and had not been authorised to sell alcohol as  

1
Page 3

Agenda Item 2



  

  per the mandatory conditions. 
 
  A licensing inspection was carried out on 17th August 2018 wherein the premises was   
  found to be operating in breach of five conditions stated on the premises licence and  
  that at least one of the staff working behind the counter was not authorised to sell  
  alcohol as per the mandatory conditions. Letters were sent to the licence holder at  
  both the registered company address and to the premises and no response has been  
  received to any of them.  
 
   Each breach of condition is a criminal offence liable to   prosecution under Section 136    

(1) of the Licensing Act with the possibility of unlimited  fines for each or a prison   
 sentence. 

 
It is the job of any responsible employer to ensure that the correct right to work checks 
are carried out. This has been a legal requirement since the late 1990’s.The premises 
licence holder has employed a person who has no right to work or live in the UK. 
Clearly, right to work checks were not being carried out. The Immigration Act 2016 
amended Section 21 of the Immigration, Asylum and Nationality Act 2006 and is the 
relevant legislation that deals with the employment of illegal workers. It states: 
 
1) A person commits an offence if he employs another (“the employee”) knowing that 
the employee is [disqualified from employment by reason of the employee's 
immigration status]. 
(1A) A person commits an offence if the person— 
(a) employs another person (“the employee”) who is disqualified from employment by 
reason of 
the employee's immigration status, and (b) has reasonable cause to believe that the 
employee is disqualified from employment by reason of the employee's immigration 
status. 
 
(1B) For the purposes of subsections (1) and (1A) a person is disqualified from 
employment by 
reason of the person's immigration status if the person is an adult subject to 
immigration control 
and— 
(a) the person has not been granted leave to enter or remain in the United Kingdom, or 
(b) the person's leave to enter or remain in the United Kingdom— 
(i) is invalid, 
(ii) has ceased to have effect (whether by reason of curtailment, revocation, 
cancellation, passage of time or otherwise), or 
(iii) is subject to a condition preventing the person from accepting the employment.] 
 
(2) A person guilty of an offence under this section shall be liable— 
(a) on conviction on indictment— 
(i) to imprisonment for a term not exceeding [five] years, 
(ii) to a fine, or 
(iii) to both 
 
The Immigration Act 2016 also inserted paragraph 24B into the Immigration Act 1971 
which states: 
(1) A person (“P”) who is subject to immigration control commits an offence if— 
(a) P works at a time when P is disqualified from working by reason of P's immigration 
status, and 
(b) at that time P knows or has reasonable cause to believe that P is disqualified from 

2
Page 4



  

working by reason of P's immigration status. 
(2) For the purposes of subsection (1) a person is disqualified from working by reason of 
the person's immigration status if— 
(a) the person has not been granted leave to enter or remain in the United Kingdom, or 
(b) the person's leave to enter or remain in the United Kingdom— 
(i) is invalid, 
(ii) has ceased to have effect (whether by reason of curtailment, revocation, 
cancellation, passage of time or otherwise), or 
(iii) is subject to a condition preventing the person from doing work of that kind. 
The offence of employing illegal workers is now also a relevant offence in the Licensing 
Act 2003. The Licensing Act 2003 Guidance at 11.27 and 11.28 now states that the 
employment of illegal workers is to be regarded as a crime that should be taken 
particularly seriously and that revocation of the premises licence – even in the first 
instance – should be seriously considered. The licence holder is undermining the crime 
and disorder licensing objective as well as failing to ensure that the people he employs 
are legally in the country or entitled to work. There are potentially numerous other 
criminal offences which may apply to the employment of illegal workers and these are 
summarised as follows: 
 
1. Illegal workers are often paid ‘off the record’ or cash in hand by the employer 

meaning that the correct tax and national insurance deductions are not taken into 
account or declared to HMRC. This would be contrary to the Fraud Act 2006. 

 
2. People who are living in the UK or who are working illegally are often not paid 
anything close to the Minimum wage which is illegal and again this only benefits the 
employer financially. 
 
3. Illegal entrants into the country will not have been subject to the usual immigration 
checks and health screenings. This could seriously impact on public protection and the 
health and wellbeing of the general public as a whole. This could be particularly 
pertinent if the illegal entrant has arrived from a country with health issues and the 
employer has then decided to employ that person in a kitchen or other function where 
food is served to the public. There are also numerous other issues that stem from the 
employment and exploitation of illegal workers – particularly as illegal workers can be 
wholly dependent on their employer for their continued stay in this country. Again, the 
only person who benefits from their employment and exploitation are unscrupulous 
employers: 
 
1. The exploitation of illegal workers by unscrupulous employers means that the only 
person who benefits from their employment is the licence holder through financial gain. 
 
2. Illegal workers – being in the country illegally or working illegally – are unable to 
declare themselves to the authorities and seek public assistance should they require it. 
 
3. Illegal workers – because of being deliberately underpaid by their employers – are 
often only provided with the most basic accommodation and standard of living which is 
often linked to their continued employment at a licensed premises. 
 
4. The employment of illegal workers is often done at the expense of people who are 
living and working in the country legally and is only done to financially benefit the 
licence holder and to undercut legitimate, law abiding competitors. 
 
5. Illegal entrants – who have not undergone appropriate checks or immigration 
clearance at the border – could be being unwittingly employed by the licence holder 

3
Page 5



  

despite them having current or previous criminal convictions which may endanger the 
public. The employer or licence holder is exploiting potentially vulnerable people and 
engaging in a multitude of criminal offences by employing them at this licensed 
premises. These offences are covered under a multitude of different pieces of 
legislation and clearly engage the crime and disorder licensing objective. 
 
The Conducting of unauthorised licensable activity As stated above, the premises has a 
licence pursuant to the Licensing Act 2003 to provide night refreshment (sale of hot 
food and drink) from 2300hrs until 0100hrs – Monday to Saturday and until midnight on a 
Sunday. The current licence also contains a condition that should the required planning 
permission be obtained then the premises could extend those hours until 0230hrs. This 
licence with this condition has been in force since September 2010.  
 
It should be noted that each unauthorised activity is a criminal offence and is contrary 
to Section 136 (1) of the Licensing Act 2003. To knowingly carry out unlicensed activity 
is an offence under Section 136 (2) of the Licensing Act 2003. What follows is a brief 
summary of the Licensing team’s interactions with the premises and the relevant 
appendix where that interaction can be found within this review application. The most 
recent interaction comes first: 
 
Breach of premises licence conditions 
Under the Licensing Act, every breach of condition is a criminal offence and means that 
licensable activity is being carried on not in accordance with an authorisation. Each 
breach of condition is contrary to Section 136 (1) of the Licensing Act 2003. It is worth 
remembering a further two points: Firstly, that conditions are attached to a premises 
licence as they are deemed appropriate and proportionate to promote the four 
licensing objectives at that premises. Secondly, the conditions currently attached to 
the premises licence have been on the licence since 2016.  
 
Summary 
In summary, the offences outlined in this review application are particularly serious. 
The employment of an illegal worker and their possible exploitation for financial gain is 
clearly an extremely serious criminal offence and one that the Licensing Act has 
identified as one where the revocation of the licence should – even in the first instance 
– be seriously considered. There are no acceptable excuses or justification that can be 
offered for this. A licence holder and responsible employer should, as a bare minimum, 
be checking that their potential employees are eligible to reside and work in the UK. 
 
Allowing this premises to continue to operate with the benefit of a premises 
licence will merely serve to perpetuate the criminal activity already 
apparent from the findings of the licensing authority, Thames Valley Police 
and colleagues in Immigration Enforcement. It is the licensing team’s 
respectful submission that the only appropriate and proportionate step to 
promote the licensing objectives and safeguard the public as a whole, is for 
the licence to be revoked. 
 

 
4. Date of receipt of application: 13 September 2018 

A copy of the review application received is attached at Appendix PN-1 

5. Date of closure of period for representations: 11 October 2018 

 

4
Page 6



  

6.  Representations received:                        

During the 28 day consultation period, representations were received in regard to this review 
application from;  
 
Thames Valley Police which is attached at Appendix PN-2 
 
The Immigration service which is attached at Appendix PN-3 
 
 
 
 
 
7. Background 
 
The premises is located in South Reading, on Northumberland Avenue. 
 
The Premises Licence Holder is stated as: Simply Fresh Supermarket Limited (Sole 
Director is Mr Amar Singh). 
 
A plan showing the premises location and surrounding area is attached at  
Appendix PN-4  
                                      
The premises currently has the benefit of a premises licence for the activities and hours 
detailed below: A copy of the current licence is attached at Appendix PN-5 
 
Licensable Activities authorised by the Licence 
 
Hours for the Sale by Retail of Alcohol – Off the Premises 
 
Monday  from 0800hrs until 2300hrs 
Tuesday  from 0800hrs until 2300hrs 
Wednesday  from 0800hrs until 2300hrs 
Thursday  from 0800hrs until 2300hrs 
Friday  from 0800hrs until 2300hrs 
Saturday  from 0800hrs until 2300hrs 
Sunday  from 1000hrs until 2230hrs 
 
Good Friday    from 0800hrs until 2230hrs 
Christmas Day from 1200hrs until 1500hrs and 1900hrs until 2230hrs 

 

8.  Licensing Objectives and Reading Borough Council’s Licensing Policy Statement 
In determining this application the Licensing Authority has a duty to carry out its 
functions with a view to promoting the four licensing objectives, which are as follows:- 
 

• the prevention of crime and disorder; 
• public safety 
• the prevention of public nuisance 
• the protection of children from harm 
 

In determining this application the Licensing Authority must also have regard to the 

5
Page 7



  

representations received, the Licensing Authority’s statement of licensing policy and 
any relevant section of the statutory guidance to licensing authorities.  
 
 
9. Power of Licensing Authority on the determination of a Review 
In determining the application the sub-committee can take such of the steps 
as it considers appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives, which 
are: 

 
1. take no further action 
2. to issue formal warnings to the premises supervisor and/or premises 
 licence holder  
3. modify the conditions of the licence (including, but not limited to hours of 

operation of licensable activities) 
4. exclude a licensable activity from the scope of the licence 
5. remove the designated premises licence supervisor 
6. suspend the licence for a period not exceeding three months 
7. revoke the licence. 

 
Where the sub-committee takes a step mentioned in 3 or 4 it may provide that the 
modification or exclusion is to have effect for a period not exceeding three months 
or permanently. 
 
 
Amended Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 April 
2018 
 
Licensing Objectives and Aims: 
 
1.5 However, the legislation also supports a number of other key aims and 
purposes. These are vitally important and should be principal aims for everyone 
involved in licensing work.  

 They include:  

 protecting the public and local residents from crime, anti-social    
 behaviour and noise nuisance caused by irresponsible licensed    
 premises;  
 
Purpose 
1.7 This Guidance is provided to licensing authorities in relation to the 

carrying out of their functions under the 2003 Act. It also provides 
information to magistrates’ courts hearing appeals against licensing 
decisions and has been made widely available for the benefit of those who 
run licensed premises, their legal advisers and the general public. It is a 
key medium for promoting best practice, ensuring consistent application 
of licensing powers across England and Wales and for promoting fairness, 
equal treatment and proportionality. 

 
1.8 The police remain key enforcers of licensing law. This Guidance does not 

6
Page 8



  

bind police officers who, within the parameters of their force orders and the 
law, remain operationally independent. However, this Guidance is provided to 
support and assist police officers in interpreting and implementing the 2003 Act 
in the promotion of the four licensing objectives. 
 
The role of responsible authorities (eg Police) 
9.12 Each responsible authority will be an expert in their respective field, and 
in some cases it is likely that a particular responsible authority will be the 
licensing authority’s main source of advice in relation to a particular licensing 
objective. For example, the police have a key role in managing the night-time 
economy and should have good working relationships with those operating in 
their local area5. The police should usually therefore be the licensing 
authority’s main source of advice on matters relating to the promotion of the 
crime and disorder licensing objective. However, any responsible authority 
under the 2003 Act may make representations with regard to any of the 
licensing objectives if they have evidence to support such representations. 
Licensing authorities must therefore consider all relevant representations from 
responsible authorities carefully, even where the reason for a particular 
responsible authority’s interest or expertise in the promotion of a particular 
objective may not be immediately apparent. However, it remains incumbent on 
all responsible authorities to ensure that their representations can withstand 
the scrutiny to which they would be subject at a hearing. 
 
Licensing authorities acting as responsible authorities  
9.13 Licensing authorities are included in the list of responsible authorities. A 
similar framework exists in the Gambling Act 2005. The 2003 Act does not 
require responsible authorities to make representations about applications for 
the grant of premises licences or to take any other steps in respect of different 
licensing processes. It is, therefore, for the licensing authority to determine 
when it considers it appropriate to act in its capacity as a responsible 
authority; the licensing authority should make this decision in accordance with 
its duties under section 4 of the 2003 Act. 
 
Home Office Immigration Enforcement acting as a responsible authority 
9.25 The Immigration Act 2016 made the Secretary of State a responsible 
authority in respect of premises licensed to sell alcohol or late night 
refreshment with effect from 6 April 2017. In effect this conveys the role of 
responsible authority to Home Office Immigration Enforcement who exercises 
the powers on the Secretary of State’s behalf. When Immigration Enforcement 
exercises its powers as a responsible authority it will do so in respect of the 
prevention of crime and disorder licensing objective because it is concerned 
with the prevention of illegal working or immigration offences more broadly. 
 
Hearings 
9.31 Regulations governing hearings may be found on the 
www.legislation.gov.uk website. If the licensing authority decides that 
representations are relevant, it must hold a hearing to consider them. The need 
for a hearing can only be avoided with the agreement of the licensing 
authority, the applicant and all of the persons who made relevant 

7
Page 9



  

representations. In cases where only ‘positive’ representations are received, 
without qualifications, the licensing authority should consider whether a 
hearing is required. To this end, it may wish to notify the persons who made 
representations and give them the opportunity to withdraw those 
representations. This would need to be done in sufficient time before the 
hearing to ensure that parties were not put to unnecessary inconvenience. 
 
9.38 In determining the application with a view to promoting the licensing 
objectives in the overall interests of the local community, the licensing 
authority must give appropriate weight to: 
• the steps that are appropriate to promote the licensing objectives; 
• the representations (including supporting information) presented by all the 
parties; 
• this Guidance; 
• its own statement of licensing policy. 
 
Determining actions that are appropriate for the promotion of the licensing 
objectives 
9.42 Licensing authorities are best placed to determine what actions are 
appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives in their areas. All 
licensing determinations should be considered on a case-by-case basis. They 
should take into account any representations or objections that have been 
received from responsible authorities or other persons, and representations 
made by the applicant or premises user as the case may be. 
 
9.43 The authority’s determination should be evidence-based, justified as being 
appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives and proportionate to 
what it is intended to achieve. 
 
The Review process 
 
11.1 The proceedings set out in the 2003 Act for reviewing premises licences 
and club premises certificates represent a key protection for the community 
where problems associated with the licensing objectives occur after the grant 
or variation of a premises licence or club premises certificate. 
 
11.2 At any stage, following the grant of a premises licence or club premises 
certificate, a responsible authority, or any other person, may ask the licensing 
authority to review the licence or certificate because of a matter arising at the 
premises in connection with any of the four licensing objectives. 
 
Powers of a licensing authority on the determination of a review 
11.6 Where the relevant licensing authority does act as a responsible authority 
and applies for a review, it is important that a separation of responsibilities is 
still achieved in this process to ensure procedural fairness and eliminate 
conflicts of interest. As outlined previously in Chapter 9 of this Guidance, the 
distinct functions of acting as licensing authority and responsible authority 
should be exercised by different officials to ensure a separation of 
responsibilities.  

8
Page 10



  

 
11.10 Where authorised persons and responsible authorities have concerns 
about problems identified at premises, it is good practice for them to give 
licence holders early warning of their concerns and the need for improvement, 
and where possible they should advise the licence or certificate holder of the 
steps they need to take to address those concerns. A failure by the holder to 
respond to such warnings is expected to lead to a decision to apply for a 
review. Co-operation at a local level in promoting the licensing objectives 
should be encouraged and reviews should not be used to undermine this co-
operation. 
 
11.16 The 2003 Act provides a range of powers for the licensing authority which 
it may exercise on determining a review where it considers them appropriate 
for the promotion of the licensing objectives. 
 
11.17 The licensing authority may decide that the review does not require it to 
take any further steps appropriate to promoting the licensing objectives. In 
addition, there is nothing to prevent a licensing authority issuing an informal 
warning to the licence holder and/or to recommend improvement within a 
particular period of time. It is expected that licensing authorities will regard such 
informal warnings as an important mechanism for ensuring that the licensing 
objectives are effectively promoted and that warnings should be issued in writing 
to the licence holder.  

11.18 However, where responsible authorities such as the police or 
environmental health officers have already issued warnings requiring 
improvement – either orally or in writing – that have failed as part of their own 
stepped approach to address concerns, licensing authorities should not merely 
repeat that approach and should take this into account when considering what 
further action is appropriate. Similarly, licensing authorities may take into 
account any civil immigration penalties which a licence holder has been 
required to pay for employing an illegal worker. 
 
Reviews arising in connection with crime 

11.24 A number of reviews may arise in connection with crime that is not 
directly connected with licensable activities. For example, reviews may arise 
because of drugs problems at the premises, money laundering by criminal 
gangs, the sale of contraband or stolen goods, the sale of firearms, or the 
sexual exploitation of children. Licensing authorities do not have the power to 
judge the criminality or otherwise of any issue. This is a matter for the courts. 
The licensing authority’s role when determining such a review is not therefore 
to establish the guilt or innocence of any individual but to ensure the 
promotion of the crime prevention objective. 

11.25 Reviews are part of the regulatory process introduced by the 2003 Act 
and they are not part of criminal law and procedure. There is, therefore, no 
reason why representations giving rise to a review of a premises licence need 
be delayed pending the outcome of any criminal proceedings. Some reviews 
will arise after the conviction in the criminal courts of certain individuals, but 
not all. In any case, it is for the licensing authority to determine whether the 

9
Page 11



  

problems associated with the alleged crimes are taking place on the premises 
and affecting the promotion of the licensing objectives. Where a review follows 
a conviction, it would also not be for the licensing authority to attempt to go 
beyond any finding by the courts, which should be treated as a matter of 
undisputed evidence before them. 

11.26 Where the licensing authority is conducting a review on the grounds that 
the premises have been used for criminal purposes, its role is solely to 
determine what steps should be taken in connection with the premises licence, 
for the promotion of the crime prevention objective. It is important to 
recognise that certain criminal activity or associated problems may be taking 
place or have taken place despite the best efforts of the licence holder and the 
staff working at the premises and despite full compliance with the conditions 
attached to the licence. In such circumstances, the licensing authority is still 
empowered to take any appropriate steps to remedy the problems. The 
licensing authority’s duty is to take steps with a view to the promotion of the 
licensing objectives and the prevention of illegal working in the interests of the 
wider community and not those of the individual licence holder.  
 
11.27 There is certain criminal activity that may arise in connection with 
licensed premises which should be treated particularly seriously. These are the 
use of the licensed premises: 
 
• for employing a person who is disqualified from that work by reason of their 
immigration status in the UK;  
 
11.28 It is envisaged that licensing authorities, the police, the Home Office 
(Immigration Enforcement) and other law enforcement agencies, which are 
responsible authorities, will use the review procedures effectively to deter such 
activities and crime. Where reviews arise and the licensing authority 
determines that the crime prevention objective is being undermined through 
the premises being used to further crimes, it is expected that revocation of the 
licence – even in the first instance – should be seriously considered.  
 

 
Reading Borough Council Licensing Policy Statement 
1.5 The  Council  believes  that  good  management  of  its  vibrant  
entertainment, alcohol and late night refreshment industries, and of the street 
environment within  which they operate, is essential to the continued success of 
Reading Town Centre and to attracting the wide range of people who want to 
come here to work, to visit and to live. However, the predominantly urban nature 
of the town and the significantly large proportion of young residents means that 
issues such as: 
 
(a) striking an appropriate balance between the needs of residents and the   
          needs of businesses, 
(b) the control of underage drinking, and 
(c) the management of young and potentially immature drinkers, 
 
are matters which are particularly relevant to the exercise of the Authority’s 

10
Page 12



  

licensing functions, and ones which applicants and existing licensees also need to 
consider. 
 
7.15 Crime & Disorder Act 1998 
7.15.1  In applying this policy, the Authority will have regard to its obligations 
under Section  17  of  the  Crime  and  Disorder  Act  1998  and  will  do  all  that  
it reasonably can to prevent crime and disorder in Reading.  The Authority will 
also have regard to  the Safer Reading Partnership, which incorporates both local  
and  national  strategies and whose mission statement is “We will continue to 
make Reading a  safer place for those who live, work and visit, through a 
reduction in crime and  disorder”. In addition the Authority will liaise with the 
Reading Crime Reduction Partnership in order to reduce crime, misuse of drugs 
and the fear of crime. 
  
10.5 Review of Premises Licence 
10.5.1 Any premises subject to a premises licence or club premises certificate 
may have that licence or certificate reviewed by the Licensing Authority on 
application by a responsible authority or interested parties. The Act provides 
strict guidelines as to the timescale and procedures to be  adhered to and the 
Authority will deal with every review application on  that basis. 
 
15. Enforcement 
15.1 General 
15.1.1 Reading Borough Council and Thames Valley Police have established a joint 
enforcement approach.   The protocols provide for the targeting of agreed 
problem  and  high-risk  premises,  with  a  lighter  approach  applied  to  well 
managed and maintained premises. 
 
15.3 Inspections 
15.3.1 The Authority  will  carry  out  routine inspections at all premises where a 
premises licence is in force. In addition, where a complaint or an application for 
a review of a premises licence is received, the premises will be inspected. The 
Council and Thames Valley Police will continue to liaise and may carry out joint 
inspections of premises. This partnership approach is intended to maximise the 
potential for controlling crime and disorder at licensed premises and ensure 
compliance with relevant licensing conditions. 
 
 
Lic/simplyfreshreview/08.11.18/pn  

11
Page 13



12
Page 14



13
Page 15



14
Page 16



15
Page 17



16
Page 18



17
Page 19



18
Page 20



19
Page 21



20
Page 22



21
Page 23



22
Page 24



23
Page 25



24
Page 26



25
Page 27



26
Page 28



27
Page 29



28
Page 30



29
Page 31



30
Page 32



31
Page 33



32
Page 34



33
Page 35



34
Page 36



35
Page 37



36
Page 38



37
Page 39



38
Page 40



39
Page 41



40
Page 42



41
Page 43



42
Page 44



43
Page 45



44
Page 46



GEN46-LAN(5/95) 

                         THAMES VALLEY POLICE             Appendix PN-2  
 Division/Station : Reading Police Station Licensing Dept 

 From : C2107 Declan Smyth                                               To : Reading Borough Council 
     

 Ref : Simply Fresh Supermarket, 236-240 Northumberland Avenue, Reading, RG2 7QA    

                                 Date :  8th October 2018  

Supportive review representation 
 
 
I C2107  Declan Smyth on behalf of the Chief Officer of Thames Valley Police wish to 
provide this representation in support of the review process relating to Simply Fresh 
Supermarket, 236-240 Northumberland Avenue, Reading, RG2 7QA. 
 
This representation is based on this premises and Mr Amar Sing’s failure to uphold the 
licensing objectives by committing offences in relation to immigration and the employment 
of illegal workers, as well as various breaches of the licence conditions. 
 
Therefore this representation gives due regard to the failure of this premises and Mr Amar 
Sing to support the licensing objective of prevention of crime and disorder as well as 
impacting negatively on all other licensing objectives. 
 
On 30th November 2017 – Reading Borough Council (Richard French, Licensing Officer), 
completed a licensing inspection at Simply Fresh Supermarket, 236-240 Northumberland Avenue, 
Reading, RG2 7QA  and found: 
(See Appendix TVP-RBC-1) 
 

1. Part A of the premises licence could not be produced. 
 

2. There was no evidence that staff had been authorised by the DPS to sell alcohol. The 
written authorisation list displayed behind the counter had the names of staff who did 
not work at the premises. 
 

3. No valid Section 57 notice could be located at the premises. 
 

4. Condition 1 under Annex 2 of the premises licence in relation to the use of an incident 
book at the premises was not being complied with. 
 

5. Condition 2 under Annex 2 of the premises licence in relation to the use of a 
Challenge 25 age verification policy was not being complied with. 
 

6. Condition 4 under Annex 2 of the premises licence in relation to staff training and 
refresher training could not be demonstrated as being complied with. 
 

7. Condition 5 (a) under Annex 2 of the premises licence in relation to staff being 
trained in relation to age restricted sales could not be demonstrated as being complied 
with. 
 

8. Condition 5 (b) under Annex 2 of the premises licence in relation to staff being 
trained to the BIIAB Level 1 Award in Responsible Alcohol Retailing was not being 
complied with. 
 

Subject  : 

45
Page 47



GEN46-LAN(5/95) 

9. Condition 5 (c) under Annex 2 of the premises licence in relation to staff training and 
to documentation being provided to prove the commencement of employment for all 
staff could not be demonstrated as being complied with. 
 

10. Condition 6 under Annex 2 of the premises licence in relation to whether the DPS is a 
DPS in another premsies could not be demonstrated as being complied with. 
 

11. Condition 7 under Annex 2 of the premises licence in relation to the production of 
invoices for tobacco products could not be demonstrated as being complied with. 
 

12. Condition 8 under Annex 2 of the premises licence in relation to CCTV was not being 
fully complied with. 
 

13. Licensing Officer, Richard French had a concern that the refusal log is not being used 
on a regular basis. There were, for example, no recorded refusals in September and 
only three instances of people being refused age restricted products since October. 
The description of the person being refused was also not as helpful as it could be.  
 

14. The member of staff was not able to tell RBC, Licensing Officer, Richard French 
what any of the four licensing objectives are. These should be refreshed with your 
staff on a regular basis and it is recommended that they are included within staff 
training. It is the job of all responsible retailers to promote the licensing objectives 
and comply with the conditions on their premises licence. Neither of which seems to 
be the case at this premises 

 
 
 
On 6th June 2018 – Reading Borough Council (Richard French, Licensing Officer), Thames 
Valley Police (P5787 Simon Wheeler) and a Home Office Immigration inspection took place 
at Simply Fresh Supermarket, 236-240 Northumberland Avenue, Reading, RG2 7QA and found: 
(See Appendix TVP-RBC-2) 
 

1. No valid Section 57 notice could be located at the premises.  
 

2. The list of authorised alcohol sellers was out of date and contained staff members who 
no longer worked at the premises.  
 

3. Condition 4 under Annex 2 of the premises licence in relation to training was not 
being complied with. No documentation was produced to demonstrate that any staff 
member had been trained. No documentation could be produced to demonstrate that 
training had taken place every four months. When questioned about the licensing 
objectives; staff did not know what they were. 

 
4. Condition 5(a) under Annex 2 of the premises licence in relation to staff training on 

age restricted sales could not be demonstrated as being complied with. No staff 
training records were produced. 

 
5. Condition 5(b) under Annex 2 of the premises licence in relation to all members of 

staff having achieved the BIIAB Level 1 award in Responsible Alcohol Retailing 
could not be demonstrated as being complied with. 
 

6. Condition 5(c) under Annex 2 of the premises licence in relation to staff training and 
records of training could not be demonstrated as being complied with.  
 

46
Page 48



GEN46-LAN(5/95) 

7. Condition 7 under Annex 2 of the premises licence in relation to the production of 
invoices for all tobacco products purchased within the last six months could not be 
demonstrated as being complied with. 
 

8. Condition 8 under Annex 2 of the premises licence in relation to CCTV was being 
complied with in terms of coverage and data storage but the system showed the 
incorrect time. 
 

9. Condition 9 under Annex 2 of the premises licence in relation to the use of a refusal 
book was being complied with but contained a lack of detail of the persons refused. 
 

10. No staff members were able to tell the RBC Licensing Officer what the four licensing 
objectives were. All licence holders and responsible retailers of alcohol are supposed 
to be actively promoting these objectives. They should also be part of your staff 
training as outlined in condition 4 on the premises licence. 

 
      
On arrival at the premises it was confirmed by the Home Office Immigration officers 
that 2 members of staff working within the premises were working illegally. 
 
It is the job of any responsible employer to ensure that the correct right to work checks are 
carried out. Carrying out right to work checks has been a requirement since the late 1990’s 
and this is underpinned by the various Immigration Acts: 
 
The Immigration Act 2016 amended Section 21 of the Immigration, Asylum and Nationality 
Act 2006 and is the relevant legislation that deals with the employment of illegal workers. It 
states: 
1) A person commits an offence if he employs another (“the employee”) knowing that the 
employee is [disqualified from employment by reason of the employee's immigration status]. 
(1A) A person commits an offence if the person— 
(a) employs another person (“the employee”) who is disqualified from employment by reason 
of the employee's immigration status, and 
(b) has reasonable cause to believe that the employee is disqualified from employment by 
reason of the employee's immigration status. 
(1B) For the purposes of subsections (1) and (1A) a person is disqualified from employment 
by reason of the person's immigration status if the person is an adult subject to immigration 
control and— 
(a) the person has not been granted leave to enter or remain in the United Kingdom, or 
(b) the person's leave to enter or remain in the United Kingdom— 
(i) is invalid, 
(ii) has ceased to have effect (whether by reason of curtailment, revocation, cancellation, 
passage of time or otherwise), or 
(iii) is subject to a condition preventing the person from accepting the employment.] 
(2) A person guilty of an offence under this section shall be liable— 
(a) on conviction on indictment— 
(i) to imprisonment for a term not exceeding [five] years, 
(ii) to a fine, or 
(iii) to both 
 
 
 
On 17th August 2018 - The Reading Borough Council (Richard French, Licensing Officer) 
and Thames Valley Police (P5787 Simpn Wheeler) conducted an enforcement visit at Simply 
Fresh Supermarket, 236-240 Northumberland Avenue, Reading, RG2 7QA and found:-  
(See Appendix TVP-RBC-3) 
 

47
Page 49



GEN46-LAN(5/95) 

1. The list of authorised alcohol sellers was out of date and contained staff members who 
no longer worked at the premises and did not contain at least one member of staff 
encountered during the inspection 
 

2. Condition 4 under Annex 2 of the premises licence in relation to training was not 
being complied with. No documentation was produced to demonstrate that any staff 
member had been trained. No documentation could be produced to demonstrate that 
training had taken place every four months. When questioned about the licensing 
objectives; staff did not know what they were. 
 

3. Condition 5(a) under Annex 2 of the premises licence in relation to staff training on 
age restricted sales could not be demonstrated as being complied with. No staff 
training records were produced. 
 

4. Condition 5(b) under Annex 2 of the premises licence in relation to all members of 
staff having achieved the BIIAB Level 1 award in Responsible Alcohol Retailing 
could not be demonstrated as being complied with. At least one staff member was 
encountered who had not achieved this qualification.  
 

5. Condition 5(c) under Annex 2 of the premises licence in relation to staff training and 
records of training could not be demonstrated as being complied with. 
 

6. Condition 8 under Annex 2 of the premises licence in relation to CCTV was being 
complied with in terms of coverage and data storage but the system showed the 
incorrect time. 
 

7. No staff members were able to tell the Licensing Officer what the four licensing 
objectives were. All licence holders and responsible retailers of alcohol are supposed 
to be actively promoting these objectives. They should also be part of your staff 
training as outlined in condition 4 on the premises licence 
 

The 3 inspections since November 2017 suggests that the Premises Licence Holder has not 
learnt from previous transgressions and continues to take short cuts. Due to the history of this 
site it is imperitive that these wholesale failures are not repeated.  
 
The licence holder is exploiting potentially vulnerable people and engaging in a multitude of 
criminal offences by employing them at the licensed premises. These offences are covered 
under a multitude of different pieces of legislation and clearly engage the crime and disorder 
licensing objective. 
 
In conclusion we have a host of issues relating to this premises and Mr Amar Sing including 
the employment of illegal workers and a number of breaches of licence conditions and 
noncompliance.  
 
In itself the employment of an illegal worker is enough to consider a revocation of this 
licence, and as such the employment of illegal workers is a criminal activity which has 
serious impacts on society and can in certain circumstances have a serious and real 
implications connected to modern day slavery.  
 
The current Secretary of State Guidance pursuant to the Licensing Act 2003 specifically deals 
with this in section 11.27 & 11.28 
 
11.27 There is certain criminal activity that may arise in connection with licensed premises 
which should be treated particularly seriously. These are the use of the licensed premises:  
• For the sale and distribution of drugs controlled under the Misuse of Drugs Act 1971 and 
the laundering of the proceeds of drugs crime;  

 

48
Page 50



GEN46-LAN(5/95) 

• For the sale and distribution of illegal firearms;  
• For the evasion of copyright in respect of pirated or unlicensed films and music, which does 
considerable damage to the industries affected;  
• For the illegal purchase and consumption of alcohol by minors which impacts on the health, 
educational attainment, employment prospects and propensity for crime of young people;  
• For prostitution or the sale of unlawful pornography;  
• By organised groups of paedophiles to groom children;  
• As the base for the organisation of criminal activity, particularly by gangs; 
 • For the organisation of racist activity or the promotion of racist attacks;  
• For employing a person who is disqualified from that work by reason of their 
immigration status in the UK;  
• For unlawful gambling; and  
• For the sale or storage of smuggled tobacco and alcohol. 
 
11.28 It is envisaged that licensing authorities, the police, the Home Office (Immigration 
Enforcement) and other law enforcement agencies, which are responsible authorities, will use 
the review procedures effectively to deter such activities and crime. Where reviews arise 
and the licensing authority determines that the crime prevention objective is being 
undermined through the premises being used to further crimes, it is expected that 
revocation of the licence – even in the first instance – should be seriously considered.  
 
Allowing this premises to continue to operate with the benefit of a premises licence will 
merely serve to perpetuate the criminal activity and human exploitation already apparent 
from the findings of the Thames Valley Police and colleagues in Immigration Enforcement.  
 
For these reasons Thames Valley Police respectfully recommend that the licensing Sub-
committee take the only appropriate and proportionate step available to them in a situation as 
serious as this and revoke the licence as the only possible means to promote the licensing 
objectives and further support the prevention of crime and disorder. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Appendices 
 
APPENDIX TVP-RBC-1 – RBC Inspection Letter – 30th November 2017 
APPENDIX TVP-RBC-2 – RBC Inspection Letter – 11th June 2018 
APPENDIX TVP-RBC-3 – RBC Inspection Letter – 17th August 2018 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

49
Page 51



50
Page 52



GEN46-LAN(5/95) 

DPS who is not named on the premises licence and, again, contains 
inaccurate information. This is a breach of Section 57 of the Licensing Act 
2003 and should be rectified immediately. 
 
 
4) Condition 1 under Annex 2 of your premises licence in relation to the use 
of an incident book at the premises was not being complied with. The only 
document produced to me was a bit of paper called ‘Incident Note’ which 
had not been completed since March 2015. This is a breach of condition and 
therefore an offence under Section 136 (1) of the Licensing Act 2003. 
 
5) Condition 2 under Annex 2 of your premises licence in relation to the use 
of a Challenge 25 age verification policy was not being complied with. Ms 
Arju Shrestha stated that she believed the policy was to Challenge persons 
who looked 18. She also stated that she would accept a University of 
Reading student card as a valid identity document. The conditions on your 
licence clearly outlines that the only acceptable forms of ID are a British 
Driver’s licence; passport or Pass Card. This was also outlined on the posters 
you have in your premises. Therefore not only is this a breach of this 
condition; it is also a breach of the mandatory conditions on the licence in 
relation to the DPS ensuring that all sales are carried out in accordance with 
the premises age verification policy. This is a breach of Section 136 (1) of 
the Licensing Act 2003. 
 
6) Condition 4 under Annex 2 of your premises licence in relation to staff 
training and refresher training could not be demonstrated as being complied 
with. Ms Arju Shrestha informed me that she had not received any written 
training despite having worked at the premises for three months. It was also 
not clear how many staff worked at the premises. No training records could 
be produced for any staff member. No refresher training could be produced 
for any staff member even though staff training should be refreshed every 
four months. This is a breach of condition and therefore a breach of Section 
136 (1) of the Licensing Act 2003. 
 
7) Condition 5 (a) under Annex 2 of your premises licence in relation to staff 
being trained in relation to age restricted sales could not be demonstrated 
as being complied with. This is a breach of condition and therefore a breach 
of Section 136 (1) of the Licensing Act 2003. 
 
8) Condition 5 (b) under Annex 2 of your premises licence in relation to staff 
being trained to the BIIAB Level 1 Award in Responsible Alcohol Retailing 
was not being complied with. This should be done within four weeks of a 
member of staff starting employment at the premises. There were two BIIAB 
certificates behind the counter but it could not be ascertained whether 
those people worked at the premises. Ms Arju Shrestha, when asked, stated 
that she had not completed this training but might be doing it ‘next week’. 
Again, she stated that she had been working at the premises for three 
months therefore this should have already been done. This is a breach of 
condition and therefore a breach of Section 136 (1) of the Licensing Act 
2003. 
 
9) Condition 5 (c) under Annex 2 of your premises licence in relation to staff 
training and to documentation being provided to prove the commencement 
of employment for all staff could not be demonstrated as being complied 

51
Page 53



GEN46-LAN(5/95) 

with. This is a breach of condition and therefore a breach of Section 136 (1) 
of the Licensing Act 2003. 
 
10) Condition 6 under Annex 2 of your premises licence in relation to 
whether the DPS is a DPS in another premsies could not be demonstrated as 
being complied with. Please confirm to me whether you are the DPS at 
another premises. 
 
11) Condition 7 under Annex 2 of your premises licence in relation to the 
production of invoices for tobacco products could not be demonstrated as 
being complied with. No invoices were produced. This is a breach of 
condition and therefore a breach of Section 136 (1) of the Licensing Act 
2003. 
 
12) Condition 8 under Annex 2 of your premises licence in relation to CCTV 
was not being fully complied with. It could not be demonstrated that the 
CCTV recorded for the required 31 days; the time on the system was 
incorrect and some of the cameras were not working. This is a breach of 
condition and therefore a breach of Section 136 (1) of the Licensing Act 
2003. 
 
13) I am concerned that the refusal log is not being used on a regular basis. 
There were, for example, no recorded refusals in September and only three 
instances of people being refused age restricted products since October. 
The description of the person being refused was also not as helpful as it 
could be. Please ensure that the refusal book is used for all refusals and 
that staff are aware how to use it. 
 
14) The member of staff was not able to tell me what any of the four 
licensing objectives are. These should be refreshed with your staff on a 
regular basis and it is recommended that they are included within staff 
training. It is the job of all responsible retailers to promote the licensing 
objectives and comply with the conditions on their premises licence. 
Neither of which seems to be the case at this premises. 
 
Please ensure that all of the above is rectified within 14 days as we will re-
visit the premises to ensure compliance. We are also deciding whether we 
need to take any additional measures in relation to the findings of this 
inspection. 

 
If you have any questions in relation to this letter then please email me. 
 
Yours faithfully 
 
 
 
Mr Richard French 
Licensing Enforcement Officer 
 
c/c Simply Fesh Supermarket Ltd,  Delamere Road, Hayes, UB4 0NN 

 
 
 
 
 

52
Page 54



53
Page 55



GEN46-LAN(5/95) 

months. When questioned about the licensing objectives; staff did not know 
what they were. This is a breach of condition and should be rectified 
immediately. It is noted that this condition was found to be in breach 
during my last inspection of 30th November 2017. 
 
4) Condition 5(a) under Annex 2 of your licence in relation to staff training 
on age restricted sales could not be demonstrated as being complied with. 
No staff training records were produced. This is a breach of condition and 
should be rectified immediately. It is noted that this condition was found 
to be in breach during my last inspection of 30th November 2017. 
 
5) Condition 5(b) under Annex 2 of your licence in relation to all members of 
staff having achieved the BIIAB Level 1 award in Responsible Alcohol 
Retailing could not be demonstrated as being complied with. This is a 
breach of condition and should be rectified immediately. It is noted that 
this condition was found to be in breach during my last inspection of 30th 
November 2017. 
 
6) Condition 5(c) under Annex 2 of your licence in relation to staff training 
and records of training could not be demonstrated as being complied with. 
This is a breach of condition and should be rectified immediately. It is 
noted that this condition was found to be in breach during my last 
inspection of 30th November 2017. 
 
7) Condition 7 under Annex 2 of your licence in relation to the production of 
invoices for all tobacco products purchased within the last six months could 
not be demonstrated as being complied with. This is a breach of condition 
and should be rectified immediately. It is noted that this condition was 
found to be in breach during my last inspection of 30th November 2017. 
 
8) Condition 8 under Annex 2 of your licence in relation to CCTV was being 
complied with in terms of coverage and data storage but the system showed 
the incorrect time. Please ensure this is rectified. 
 
9) Condition 9 under Annex 2 of your licence in relation to the use of a 
refusal book was being complied with but contained a lack of detail of the 
persons refused. It is noted that this condition was also raised as an issue 
during my last inspection of 30th November 2017. 
 
10) No staff members were able to tell me what the four licensing 
objectives were. All licence holders and responsible retailers of alcohol are 
supposed to be actively promoting these objectives. They should also be 
part of your staff training as outlined in condition 4 on your licence. This 
was found to be an issue during my previous inspection of 30th November 
2017. 
 
This is the second inspection I have carried out at this premises in the 
last 7 months and you will note that all of the above matters have 
previously been raised with you. I also note that I received no response 
to my previous letter dated 30th November 2017 yet I did see it had 
made its way into your licensing folder at the premises. I was also 
informed that you only attend the premises once a month which is not 
ideal given the DPS is supposed to have day to day control. 
 

54
Page 56



GEN46-LAN(5/95) 

Whilst we consider what, if any, further action we may take in relation 
to this and previous matters, please rectify all of the above licensing 
breaches immediately. Please notify me when you believe the above 
matters have been rectified so that we can arrange a re-inspection. 
 
 
If you have any questions in relation to the contents of this letter then 
please contact me. 
 
Yours faithfully 
 
 
 
Mr Richard French 
Licensing  Enforcement Officer 
 
c/c DPS – Mr Amar Singh at stated DPS home address 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

55
Page 57



56
Page 58



GEN46-LAN(5/95) 

3) Condition 5(a) under Annex 2 of your licence in relation to staff training 
on age restricted sales could not be demonstrated as being complied with. 
No staff training records were produced. This is a breach of condition and 
should be rectified immediately. It is noted that this condition was found 
to be in breach during my previous inspections of 30th November 2017 
and 6th June 2018. 
 
4) Condition 5(b) under Annex 2 of your licence in relation to all members of 
staff having achieved the BIIAB Level 1 award in Responsible Alcohol 
Retailing could not be demonstrated as being complied with. At least one 
staff member was encountered who had not achieved this qualification. This 
is a breach of condition and should be rectified immediately. It is noted 
that this condition was found to be in breach during my previous 
inspection of 30th November 2017 and 6th June 2018. 
 
5) Condition 5(c) under Annex 2 of your licence in relation to staff training 
and records of training could not be demonstrated as being complied with. 
This is a breach of condition and should be rectified immediately. It is 
noted that this condition was found to be in breach during my previous 
inspections of 30th November 2017 and 6th June 2018. 

 
6) Condition 8 under Annex 2 of your licence in relation to CCTV was being 
complied with in terms of coverage and data storage but the system showed 
the incorrect time. Please ensure this is rectified. It is noted that this was 
flagged as an issue during my previous inspection of 6th June 2018. 

 
7) No staff members were able to tell me what the four licensing objectives 
were. All licence holders and responsible retailers of alcohol are supposed 
to be actively promoting these objectives. They should also be part of your 
staff training as outlined in condition 4 on your licence. This was found to 
be an issue during my previous inspections of 30th November 2017 and 
6th June 2018. 
 
This is the third inspection I have carried out at this premises in the last 
9 months and you will note that all of the above matters have previously 
been raised with you. I also note that I received no response to my 
previous letters dated 30th November 2017 and 11th June 2018. I was 
also informed that you only attend the premises once a month which is 
not ideal given the DPS is supposed to have day to day control. 
 
Please ensure all of the above is rectified immediately. 

 
Yours faithfully 

 
Mr Richard French 
Licensing Enforcement Officer 

 

57
Page 59



58
Page 60



59
Page 61



60
Page 62



61
Page 63



62
Page 64



63
Page 65



64
Page 66



65
Page 67



66
Page 68



67
Page 69



68
Page 70



69
Page 71



70
Page 72



71
Page 73



72
Page 74



73
Page 75



74
Page 76



75
Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Application for the Review of a Premises Licence - Simply Fresh Supermarket, Northumberland Avenue, Reading



